

# **Honors Senior Thesis Release Agreement Form**

The High Library supports the preservation and dissemination of all papers and projects completed as part of the requirements for the Elizabethtown College Honors Program (Honors Senior Thesis). Your signature on the following form confirms your authorship of this work and your permission for the High Library to make this work available. By agreeing to make it available, you are also agreeing to have this work included in the institutional repository, JayScholar. If you partnered with others in the creation of this work, your signature also confirms that you have obtained their permission to make this work available.

Should any concerns arise regarding making this work available, faculty advisors may contact the Director of the High Library to discuss the available options.

## Release Agreement

I, as the author of this work, do hereby grant to Elizabethtown College and the High Library a non-exclusive worldwide license to reproduce and distribute my project, in whole or in part, in all forms of media, including but not limited to electronic media, now or hereafter known, subject to the following terms and conditions:

## Copyright

No copyrights are transferred by this agreement, so I, as the author, retain all rights to the work, including but not limited to the right to use in future works (such as articles or books). With this submission, I represent that any third-party content included in the project has been used with permission from the copyright holder(s) or falls within fair use under United States copyright law (http://www.copyright.gov/title17/92chap1.html#107).

#### **Access and Use**

The work will be preserved and made available for educational purposes only. Signing this document does not endorse or authorize the commercial use of the content. I do not, however, hold Elizabethtown College or the High Library responsible for third party use of this content.

#### Term

This agreement will remain in effect unless permission is withdrawn by the author via written request to the High Library.

Signature: _	Jessica Freels	Date:

$\alpha$ 1	α		α .	•
Liender	Stereoty	mec in	lim	VIVOr
Ochaci	SICICOLY	pcs III	Sui	V 1 V O1

By

Jessica Freels

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for Honors in the Discipline in Communications

and the Elizabethtown College Honors Program

Due Date: 05/06/2022

Thesis Advisor (signature required)\_\_\_

Second Reader \_\_\_\_

Third Reader (if applicable)\_

[only if applicable such as with interdisciplinary theses]

## Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Introduction	2
ground on the Problem  arch Question and Hypotheses  ature Review tereotypes and Gender eality Television and Behavioral Traits elevision and Gender  addology ehavioral Traits ender pecial Episodes  Its  assion tations and Future Research endix A - Coding Sheet Template	3
ckground on the Problem search Question and Hypotheses erature Review Stereotypes and Gender Reality Television and Behavioral Traits Television and Gender thodology Behavioral Traits Gender Special Episodes sults cussion mitations and Future Research pendix A - Coding Sheet Template	3
Literature Review	4
Stereotypes and Gender	4
Reality Television and Behavioral Traits	5
Television and Gender	5
Methodology	7
Behavioral Traits	7
Gender	9
Special Episodes	9
Results	10
Discussion	14
Limitations and Future Research	15
Appendix A - Coding Sheet Template	17
Appendix B - Occurrences per Episode	18
References	19

#### **Abstract**

Survivor is an American reality competition show where a group of castaways fight for the title of "Sole Survivor" through a variety of challenges and tribal councils where members are voted out by each other. It is often called a "microcosm of our real world," but how accurate is it? This research compares gender and four behavioral traits—affection, emotionality, independence, and competitiveness—to determine if gender stereotypes associated with those traits are present in Survivor. Previous research indicates that women are portrayed as more affectionate and emotional, while men are portrayed as more independent and competitive in the media. Previous research also indicates that television is influential in people's perception of stereotypes. Through a content analysis of randomly selected episodes, results indicate that gender has no effect on the portrayal of affection, emotionality, independence, and competitiveness.

## Introduction

Television plays an essential role in learning. It teaches viewers cultural ideologies, appropriate behaviors, new trends, language, and social constructs, like stereotypes (England, 2018). Stereotypes are considered part of a difficult cycle to break. Once a stereotype is formed, it is then portrayed, which only reinforces it (Eagly & Karau, 2002). Its portrayal not only has consequences for viewers, but also for those who perpetrate it. Contestants on the reality television show *Big Brother 15* were fired from their jobs as a result of discriminatory comments they made on the show (England, 2018). Opening up "reality" to be publicized on television can have its range of consequences, which may be more severe than expected.

## **Background on the Problem**

Reality shows have been a staple of broadcast television in the 21st Century. Nabi et al. (2003) outlined a few key elements that define a reality TV show. Their casts contain people portraying themselves, rather than actors portraying a character. They are also not filmed on a set or with a script. England (2018) defined these shows as "unscripted" since there's often criticism regarding the "reality" label. This is due to the fact that critics don't believe being filmed qualifies as a real life scenario. CBS's *Survivor* is categorized as a competition-based reality show.

Since premiering in 2000, *Survivor* has produced 42 seasons. Each season consists of 16 to 20 contestants, labeled "castaways," who are stranded in a remote location. They are then divided into tribes to compete in challenges, with the losers being forced to eliminate someone from within their tribe. After the tribes merge, they then compete individually until a final two or three (season dependent) remain. Castaways voted out after the merge act as a jury to decide which of the final contestants will be crowned Sole Survivor and win a million dollar prize. Each season varies, as new twists to the gameplay are introduced. All the while, contestants also have to survive the conditions of being deserted (*About Survivor*, 2022). Executive Producer and Host Jeff Probst often calls *Survivor* a "microcosm for our real world" (Wigler, 2019). This paper aims to test part of that theory.

## **Research Question and Hypotheses**

This research sought to answer the question: Does *Survivor* portray contestants in-line with the gender stereotypes commonly associated with affection, emotionality, independence, and competitiveness? The following hypotheses were formed based on the literature review:

H<sub>1</sub>: Women are portrayed as more affectionate than men.

H<sub>2</sub>: Women are portrayed as more emotional than men.

H<sub>3</sub>: Men are portrayed as more independent than women.

H<sub>4</sub>: Men are portrayed as more competitive than women.

## **Literature Review**

## Stereotypes and Gender

Stereotypes, as defined by Eagly & Koenig, are "traits ascribed to entire categories of persons" (2021, p. 344). Thus, a gender stereotype is that of a trait assigned to a specific gender. Gender stereotypes, also referred to as gender roles or sex roles, create a "pre-determined" plan that people are assumed to follow. In the 1970s, Sandra L. Bem created the Bem Sex-Roles Inventory (BSRI) to measure people's identification with gender stereotypical traits. The inventory contains 20 traits associated with men, 20 traits associated with women, and 20 androgynous traits (Donnelly & Twenge, 2017). "Affectionate" is listed as a feminine trait, while "independent" and "competitive" are both listed as masculine traits (Hoffman & Borders, 2001). All of the behavioral traits were sorted by Stanford undergraduate students in the 1970s, and have been tested in various studies since then (Donnelly & Twenge, 2017).

Maznah & Choo found that the BSRI concepts are "culture bound," and thus can only reflect American gender stereotypes (1986, p. 39). They also found that both the masculine and feminine traits have "high internal consistency," which indicates a strong association of the traits with each gender (Maznah & Choo, 1986). Donnelly & Twenge (2017) found that the only significant change in trends between 1993 and 2012 was a decline in women's association with feminine traits, however no significant change occurred between the start of the BSRI and 2012. Women's association with masculine traits and men's associations with both masculine and feminine traits did not show any significant change over any part of the time period. Without

much significant change in associations, the BSRI can still be used as a basis for gender stereotypes.

## Reality Television and Behavioral Traits

Previous research indicates that reality television has portrayed general stereotypes, such as lifestyle behaviors and economic status, which have an effect on viewers. Tsay-Vogel & Krakowiak (2016) studied reality television shows' portrayal of lifestyles. They found that reality shows that depict personal lifestyle changes, such as *Undercover Boss*, are considered more "moving" than reality shows focused on competition or game. The shows cause viewers to self-reflect on their lifestyle choices, which creates a positive association to the show. Shows like *Survivor* contain more strategy, competition, and manipulation, which cause viewers to be left in suspense.

Jahng focused on the portrayal and effects of economic statuses. Generally, "heavy viewers of reality" shows were found to indicate more materialistic views than "light viewers" (2019, p. 328). Heavy viewers also tended to believe that the wealth depicted on reality television shows, such as those that follow celebrities, is attainable. Viewers had skewed perceptions of wealth, due to their consumption of reality TV Another stereotype studied in competition-based reality television was ageism. Denham & Jones (2008) found that *Survivor* elimination trends showed the elder castaways leaving first, due to negative perceptions of older generations, such as stereotypes that they're weak. These perceptions from reality television viewers carry into their assumptions on gender and create gender stereotypes.

#### Television and Gender

Television has a history of portraying gender stereotypes, especially those targeted towards women. Thompson & Zerbinos (1995) found that female characters in children's

cartoons were less emotional than those in 1980, but still followed the gender stereotype of being emotional. This also held true for female characters and affection; while it decreased since 1980, they were still more affectionate than their male counterparts. Glascock's (2001) study of prime time television characters supports this, with female characters being portrayed as significantly more affectionate than males. When it comes to male stereotypes, Downs (1981) found that prime time television male characters were more likely to "solve their own problems without assistance," an act of independence. Thompson & Zerbinos (1995) saw an increase in female characters being portrayed as independent. However, the overarching finding was still that male characters were more independent than female characters.

Women are portrayed as a multitude of different stereotypes and roles. Brancato (2007) found that reality television shows often hyper-symbolize the mother and wife roles. This perpetuates the female gender roles associated with caretaking, of both the house and kids.

Swantek (2014) found that women were being portrayed as weak and shallow, as well as often being younger and more attractive than the male characters.

Multiple studies have also found a connection between gender (among other factors) and success in the game, specifically in *Survivor*. According to Brillman (2016) women comprise 57% of the first five eliminations in the seasons analyzed. When it's scaled back to the first four eliminations, women make up 65%. In fact, Adebowale (2020) found that women are more likely to be the first elimination over men. Women were 24 of the first eliminations in the first 40 seasons. Adebowale (2020) explains that women are often eliminated because they are viewed as a strong player or because the tribe wants to punish her male ally by eliminating her. While Brillman (2016) found that gender does not significantly affect a castaway's performance (with all groups statistically finishing within two places of the expected value) and Truscott (2017)

finding a similar non-affect, women are still at a disadvantage. Beyond the apparent elimination order connection, women only make up 14 of the first 39 winners (Adebowale, 2020).

## Methodology

For this project, a content analysis of *Survivor* episodes was conducted to investigate the portrayal of typical gender roles in *Survivor*. The sample population for this project included 20 episodes of *Survivor* collected from the streaming service Paramount+. These included one randomly selected episode (using a random number generator online) from every other season, starting with the first. Live reunion episodes were not included in the random selection due to their significant difference from typical episodes.

A quantitative content analysis was conducted on the samples, including the following steps. Four behavioral traits were chosen, two (affection and emotionality) with a traditional female stereotype association and two (independence and competitiveness) with a traditional male stereotype association (Hoffman & Borders, 2001; Swantek, 2014). The traits were defined and given potential actions and/or phrases that showcase the trait. These were then put into a coding sheet, as seen in Appendix A. Episodes were randomly selected as coding was underway. Coding consisted of marking every time a trait was seen underneath the corresponding gender. Data was analyzed using Excel.

When coding episodes, recap footage at the start of an episode and preview footage at the end of an episode accompanied by exit interview audio was not coded. Only contestants were coded; the host Jeff Probst and any visitors were not coded.

#### **Behavioral Traits**

Affection was defined as "a feeling of liking and caring for someone," and was coded for displays of affection (Merriam-Webster, n.d.). Examples of coding traits included hugging,

cuddling, pats on the back, handshakes, kisses, and holding hands. Affectionate touches in a first-aid context were coded. Group hugs between both gender groups, with no shown initiator were coded as one male and one female. When an initiator was shown, only that gender was counted. Touches during challenges that forced contact, such as paris holding hands, were not counted.

Emotionality was defined as the degree to which one is emotional, which was defined as being "dominated by or prone to emotion" particularly negative emotions (Merriam-Webster, n.d.). Coding traits were based on Downs' (1981), Klewin's (2007), and Scharrer's (2012) studies. Examples included talking about feelings, frowning, teary-eyed, crying, choked up with sniffles, lashing out in anger, and yelling in anger. Talking about feelings included phrases like "emotion-packed," "the mood is heavy," "you hurt my feelings," and "I was a little hurt."

Independence was defined as the behavior of living "your life without being helped or influenced by other people" (Cambridge Dictionary, n.d.). Coding traits included acting on their own for things such as making plans, making decisions, fishing, making fire, gathering food, and hunting idols. Coding also included defying others' influence, such as avoiding deals by themselves or acting against one's expressed interests. Any attempts towards these actions were also counted, even if unsuccessful. Independence sounded like "I'm not voting how they told me to" and "I have my own strategy," and looked like someone being the first to step up to mutiny (season 13) and someone taking their idol back from a contestant they loaned it to, against the other's wishes.

Competitiveness was defined as the trait of a person who has a strong desire to win and/or have greater success than others (Cambridge Dictionary, n.d.). Coding traits included talking about winning and losing. Some example phrases included "secure a spot," "I will win,"

"you will lose," "I want immunity," and some more nuisance competitiveness like "looking for a chance to make myself safe" and "I'm top competitor." Simply winning a challenge did not qualify as competitiveness, a contestant needed to express their drive to want to win or put others down.

## Gender

For this content analysis, only "male" and "female" were used as gender categories. This is due to the make-up of *Survivor* contestants. The American version of the show has only had one non-binary contestant (Evvie Jagoda from season 41), and they came out after their season aired (Evvie Jagoda, 2021). Thus, all contestants during the time of production fit under these two categories. Additionally, season 41 was not one of the seasons coded.

## Special Episodes

One of the randomly selected episodes (Season 21, Episode 14) coded was a loved one's episode. This is where each contestant is surprised with a visit from a loved one (parent, sibling, significant other, friend, etc.). They then compete in a challenge where winners get to enjoy a reward meal with their visitor. This episode contained some of the highest levels of affection and emotionality across all of the episodes coded, with the highest number of male occurrences of emotionality overall (see Appendix B). This was expected as contestants have been isolated for some time, having made it through a majority of the 39 days. The high-level of male emotionality may be due to the breakdown of contestants during this episode, with four male and two females remaining.

In addition to coding one loved one's episode, two finale episodes were also randomly chosen (Season 9, Episode 14 and Season 31, Episode 13). These episodes are double the length of a typical episode, which allowed for more coding time on all traits. Typically, contestants tend

to be nostalgic, reflecting on their experience. They also are put in a situation where they need to persuade the jury to vote for them to win, which would cause an expected high level of competitiveness. This was seen in the Season 31 finale, with the highest number of male competitiveness, and the Season 9 finale, with the highest number of female competitiveness. The Season 31 finale also contained the highest number of male affection, female emotionality, and female independence. With the longer duration of coding and increased stakes, these numbers are not surprising.

Despite the episode of each season being randomly selected, there were an almost equal number of pre-merge and post-merge episodes coded. Prior to the merge, contestants are divided into separate groups (called "tribes") that compete against each other. Post-merge, contestants compete in individual challenges as part of one tribe. Nine pre-merge episodes and ten post-merge episodes were coded, with the remaining episode being a recap of mainly pre-merge footage. Pre-merge and post-merge gameplay often varies, so the near equal coding of each allows for compensation of this variation. All four behavioral traits may be affected by the point of the game, but timing was not included in this research.

#### Results

Descriptive statistics show that across the 20 episodes, affection was coded a total of 174 times, with 90 male (51.7%) occurrences compared to 84 female (48.3%) occurrences (Table 1). Occurrences of emotionality were lower, with 36 male (37.5%) and 60 female (62.5%) situations coded. Independence was the trait with the lowest number of total occurrences, with only 24 male (51.1%) and 23 female (48.9%) situations counted. The number of occurrences for competitiveness were more consistent with the first two traits, with 67 male (60.1%) and 43 female (39.1%) instances.

	Male	Male Percentages	Female	Female Percentages	Total
Affection	90	51.7%	84	48.3%	174
Emotionality	36	37.5%	60	62.5%	96
Independence	24	51.1%	23	48.9%	47
Competitiveness	67	60.1%	43	39.1%	110

**Table 1:** Number and percentages of behavioral trait occurrences

 $H_1$  expected women to be portrayed as more affectionate than men. A t-test was used to measure the portrayal of affection in male and female contestants (Table 2). There was no significant difference in the scores for male (M=4.5, SD=3.24) and female (M=4.2, SD=3.25); t(38)=.29, p=0.386. These results suggest that gender has no effect on affection. Thus,  $H_1$  is not supported.

Table 2: t-Test Analysis of Affection

2 3 33			
	Male	Female	
Mean	4.5	4.2	
Variance	10.4736842	10.5894737	
Observations	20	20	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0		
df	38		
t Stat	0.29233076		
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.38581198		
t Critical one-tail	1.68595446		
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.77162396		
t Critical two-tail	2.02439416		

 $H_2$  expected women to be portrayed as more emotional than men. A t-test was used to measure the portrayal of emotionality in male and female contestants (Table 3). There was no significant difference in the scores for male (M=1.8, SD=2.4) and female (M=3, SD=3.01); t(36)=-1.39, p=0.086. These results suggest that gender has no effect on emotionality. Therefore,  $H_2$  is not supported.

**Table 3:** t-Test Analysis of Emotionality

	Male	Female	
Mean	1.8	3	
Variance	5.74736842	9.05263158	
Observations	20	20	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0		
df	36		
t Stat	-1.39497166		
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.08578605		
t Critical one-tail	1.68829771		
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.17157209		
t Critical two-tail	2.028094		

H<sub>3</sub> expected men to be portrayed as more independent than women. A t-test was used to measure the portrayal of independence in male and female contestants (Table 4). There was no significant difference in the scores for male (M=1.2, SD=1.11) and female (M=1.15, SD=1.27); t(37)=.13, p=0.447. These results suggest that gender has no effect on independence. Thus, H<sub>3</sub> is not supported.

 Table 4: t-Test Analysis of Independence

	Male	Female	
Mean	1.2	1.15	
Variance	1.22105263	1.60789474	
Observations	20	20	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0		
df	37		
t Stat	0.13294517		
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.44747858		
t Critical one-tail	1.68709362		
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.89495716		
t Critical two-tail	2.02619246		

 $H_4$  expected men to be portrayed as more competitive than women. A t-test was used to measure the portrayal of competitiveness in male and female contestants (Table 5). There was no significant difference in the scores for male (M=3.35, SD=2.5) and female (M=2.15, SD=2.35); t(38)=1.57, p=0.063. These results suggest that gender has no effect on independence. Therefore,  $H_4$  is not supported.

**Table 5:** t-Test Analysis for Competitiveness

	Male	Female
Mean	3.35	2.15
Variance	6.23947368	5.50263158
Observations	20	20
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	38	
t Stat	1.56611359	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.06280636	
t Critical one-tail	1.68595446	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.12561272	
t Critical two-tail	2.02439416	

## **Discussion**

With all four hypotheses rejected, this research does not support prior studies on gender stereotypes. Previous research indicated that these four behavioral traits are portrayed in television with a gender bias. However, this research did not find statistically significant proof of this. This implies that there aren't gender stereotypes (at least in regard to these four traits) being portrayed in reality TV, specifically *Survivor*:

This lack of gender stereotypes may be due to the changing nature of society, with people now having a better understanding of how harmful stereotypes are. However, this research studied episodes as far back as 2000, so the more recent research from the literature review, such as (Adebowale, 2020), would have indicated this change in social norms as well. The lack of support for the hypothesis may instead be a result of limitations.

### **Limitations and Future Research**

While competitiveness was the closest to being significantly in-line with its hypothesis (H<sub>3</sub>), it's important to note that competitiveness was coded solely on verbal cues. It's possible that this created a bias, if men are more likely to vocalize their competitiveness. In the future, more research would be needed to better code for competitiveness.

More research would also help solidify the findings of this research, since less than 3% of *Survivor* episodes were analyzed. With over 600 episodes, the amount of content to analyze served as a limitation to this research. Twenty randomly selected episodes were used due to time constraints. Time constraints also eliminated the ability to conduct intercoder reliability tests. This is where a possible coding bias could have been intercepted and fixed prior to coding all of the episodes.

Additionally, this research is based on the edited version of the events that occur. It's possible that there is an edit bias, unknown to viewers since there is no access to all of the footage. More occurrences may be happening that are never shown, which affects the data of how prevalent a stereotype is, but not in terms of how they're portrayed. Interviews with contestants and/or access to the unedited footage would be helpful in further research.

This research only focused on four behavioral traits associated with gender stereotypes. Not only are there more gender role traits, but there are also other ways that gender stereotypes may be portrayed, such as through the elimination order. Future research can expand not only on this gender stereotype analysis, but also on other aspects of the microcosm that is *Survivor*, such as racial, economic, or age stereotypes. Similar research on other reality television shows, such as *Big Brother*, should also be conducted to see if the same findings occur throughout the genre.

Further research, of gender portrayal in *Survivor* and in all of the previously listed areas, should be conducted because of the role television, especially reality television, plays in viewers' lives. England (2018) emphasized the importance of television in learning. Viewers of reality television assume that what is portrayed is what real life is. When they view a stereotype, they assume it's true, which is a dangerous cycle.

## **Appendix A - Coding Sheet Template**

SeasonEpisode:							
Date aired:							
	Affection:						
Includes:	touches, hugging, cudd	ling					
	Male	Female					
Shows affection							
	Emotionality:						
Includes: annearing	g upset, crying, talking a	hout faalings					
merudes, appearing							
	Male	Female					
Shows emotional behavior							
	Independence:						
Includes: making decision	ons on their own, defyin	g others' influence					
	Male	Female					
Shows independence							
	Competitiveness:						
Includes: "secure a spot," "I will win," "you will lose,"							
	Male	Female					
Shows competitiveness							

Appendix B - Occurrences per Episode

	Affe	ction	Emotio	onality	Indepe	ndence	Competi	tiveness
Episode	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
S1 E2	3	3	0	2	2	1	2	2
S3 E10	1	3	2	0	1	0	2	1
S5 E3	6	4	0	3	0	0	1	0
S7 E2	2	1	3	1	2	0	4	1
S9 E14	3	5	3	6	2	2	6	9
S11 E7	4	3	0	2	0	0	2	2
S13 E9	2	4	3	3	1	1	2	2
S15 E8	0	0	0	1	1	1	4	1
S17 E5	2	0	1	5	1	1	5	0
S19 E3	4	6	0	0	4	0	4	0
S21 E14	10	9	10	7	0	0	2	1
S23 E11	7	2	2	0	3	0	2	0
S25 E8	1	1	0	1	0	3	6	6
S27 E12	6	6	1	0	1	0	2	0
S29 E7	10	13	1	2	0	1	4	3
S31 E13	11	8	5	10	1	4	10	5
S33 E4	4	4	3	3	2	1	0	1
S35 E12	3	1	1	0	2	2	7	4
S37 E7	8	6	1	8	1	3	2	3
S39 E2	3	5	0	6	0	3	0	2
Totals:	90	84	36	60	24	23	67	43

## References

- About Survivor. (2022). CBS. Retrieved on April 28, 2022, from https://www.cbs.com/shows/survivor/about/
- Adebowale, T. (2020, February 22). *People are finally noticing* Survivor's big gender problem. Men's Health.
  - https://www.menshealth.com/entertainment/a31016389/survivor-gender-problem-women -first-eliminations/
- Brancato, J. (2007). Domesticating politics: The representation of wives and mothers in American reality television. *Film & History*, *37*(2), 49-56 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1353/flm.2007.0044">https://doi.org/10.1353/flm.2007.0044</a>
- Brillman, L. (2016). The impact of race and gender in Survivor. *University of Michigan*.

  <a href="https://robhasawebsite.com/blog/the-impact-of-race-and-gender-in-the-first-30-seasons-of-survivor/">https://robhasawebsite.com/blog/the-impact-of-race-and-gender-in-the-first-30-seasons-of-survivor/</a>
- Cambridge Dictionary. (n.d.). Competitiveness. In *Dictionary.Cambridge.org dictionary*.

  Retrieved March 27, 2022, from

  https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/competitiveness
- Cambridge Dictionary. (n.d.). Independence. In *Dictionary.Cambridge.org dictionary*. Retrieved March 27, 2022, from
  - https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/independence
- Denham, B. E., & Jones, R. N. (2008). Survival of the stereotypical: A study of personal characteristics and order of elimination on reality television. *Studies in Popular Culture*, 30(2), 79-99. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23416126

- Donnelly, K., & Twenge, J. M. (2017). Masculine and feminine traits on the bem sex-role inventory, 1993-2012: A cross-temporal meta-analysis. *Sex Roles*, 76(9-10), 556-565. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-016-0625-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-016-0625-y</a>
- Downs, A. C. (1981). Sex-role stereotyping on prime-time television. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 138(2), 253-258 https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.1981.10534139
- Eagly, A. H., & Karau, S. J. (2002). Role congruity theory of prejudice toward female leaders. *Psychological Review, 109*(3), 573-598 https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.109.3.573
- Eagly, A. H., & Koenig, A. M. (2021). The vicious cycle linking stereotypes and social roles.

  \*Current Direction in Psychological Science, 30(4), 343-350

  https://doi.org/10.1177/09637214211013775
- England, M. R. (2018). Big Brother is watching you: Why you should be watching reality tv. In *Public privates: Feminist geographies of mediated spaces* (pp. 129-142). University of Nebraska Press. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt22726wh.10">https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt22726wh.10</a>
- Evvie Jagoda [@evviejag]. (2021, September 3). Hi friends!!! I just wanted to share that over the past few months I've been thinking more about my gender [Photograph]. Instagram. <a href="https://www.instagram.com/p/CTXWc7ZrWP1/">https://www.instagram.com/p/CTXWc7ZrWP1/</a>
- Glascock, J. (2001). Gender roles on prime-time network television: Demographics and behaviors. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 45*(4), 656-669 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1207/s15506878jobem4504">https://doi.org/10.1207/s15506878jobem4504</a> 7
- Hoffman, R. M., & Borders, L. D. (2001). Twenty-five years after the Bem Sex-Role Inventory:

  A reassessment and new issues regardless classification variability. *Measurement & Evaluation in Counseling & Development, 34*(1), 39-55

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2001.12069021">https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2001.12069021</a>

- Jahng, M. R. (2019). Watching the rich and famous: The cultivation effect of reality television shows and the mediating role of parasocial experiences. *Media Practice and Education*, 20(4), 319-33. https://doi.org/10.1080/25741136.2018.1556544
- Klewin, E. V. (2007). Living happily ever after?: The reinforcement of stereotypical gender roles on The Bachelor and The Bachelorette. *Boston College*. <a href="http://hdl.handle.net/2345/512">http://hdl.handle.net/2345/512</a>
- Maznah, I., & Choo, P. F. (1986). The factor structure of the Bem Sex-Role Inventory (BSRI).

  \*International Journal of Psychology, 21(1), 31-41

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00207598608247574
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Affection. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved March 27, 2022, from <a href="https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/affection">https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/affection</a>
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Emotional. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved March 27, 2022, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/emotional
- Nabi, R. L., Biely, E. N., Morgan, S. J., & Stitt, C. R. (2003). Reality-based television programming and the psychology of its appeal. *Media Psychology*, *5*(4), 303-330. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532785XMEP0504\_01
- Scharrer, E. (2012). More than "just the facts"?: Portrayals of masculinity in police and detective programs over time. *The Howard Journal of Communications*, *23*(1), 88-109. https://doi.org/10.1080/10646175.2012.641882
- Swantek, S. (2014, September 11). *Stereotyped: Women in reality TV.* The Artifice. <a href="https://the-artifice.com/sterotyped-women-in-reality-tv/">https://the-artifice.com/sterotyped-women-in-reality-tv/</a>
- Thompson, T. L., & Zerbinos, E. (1995). Gender roles in animated cartoons: Has the picture changed in 20 years? *Sex Roles, 32*, 651-673 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01544217">https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01544217</a>

- Truscott, S. (2017). Battle of the sexes: The role of gender in Survivor. *Northwestern University*. <a href="https://mmss.wcas.northwestern.edu/thesis/articles/get/958/Truscott%20Thesis.pdf">https://mmss.wcas.northwestern.edu/thesis/articles/get/958/Truscott%20Thesis.pdf</a>
- Tsay-Vogel, M., & Krakowiak, K. M. (2016). Inspiration reality tv: The prosocial effects of lifestyle transforming reality programs on elevation and altruism. *Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media*, 60(4), 567-586.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2016.1234474

Wigler, J. (2019, November 13). 'Survivor' dives into #MeToo debate with claims against Hollywood talent manager. *The Hollywood Reporter*.

https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/tv/tv-news/survivor-jeff-probst-speaks-dan-spilo-con troversy-1254554/